



#### RÉSEAU DE GESTION DURABLE DES FORÊTS

Networks of Centres of Excellence Réseaux de centres d'excellence

## **Design of Forest Tenure Institutions**

### The Challenges of Governing Forests

Ilan Vertinsky and Marty Luckert

#### THE SUSTAINABLE FOREST MANAGEMENT NETWORK

Established in 1995, the Sustainable Forest Management Network (SFM Network) is an incorporated, non-profit research organization based at the University of Alberta in Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.

The SFM Network's mission is to:

- Deliver an internationally-recognized, interdisciplinary program that undertakes relevant university-based research;
- Develop networks of researchers, industry, government, Aboriginal, and non-government organization partners;
- Offer innovative approaches to knowledge transfer; and
- Train scientists and advanced practitioners to meet the challenges of natural resource management.

The SFM Network receives about 60% of its \$7 million annual budget from the Networks of Centres of Excellence (NCE) Program, a Canadian initiative sponsored by the NSERC, SSHRC, and CIHR research granting councils. Other funding partners include the University of Alberta, governments, forest industries, Aboriginal groups, non-governmental organizations, and the BIOCAP Canada Foundation (through the Sustainable Forest Management Network/BIOCAP Canada Foundation Joint Venture Agreement).

#### **KNOWLEDGE EXCHANGE AND TECHNOLOGY EXTENSION PROGRAM**

The SFM Network completed approximately 334 research projects from 1995 – 2008. These projects enhanced the knowledge and understanding of many aspects of the boreal forest ecosystem, provided unique training opportunities for both graduate and undergraduate students and established a network of partnerships across Canada between researchers, government, forest companies and Aboriginal communities.

The SFM Network's research program was designed to contribute to the transition of the forestry sector from sustained yield forestry to sustainable forest management. Two key elements in this transition include:

- Development of strategies and tools to promote ecological, economic and social sustainability, and
- Transfer of knowledge and technology to inform policy makers and affect forest management practices.

In order to accomplish this transfer of knowledge, the research completed by the Network must be provided to the Network Partners in a variety of forms. The KETE Program is developing a series of tools to facilitate knowledge transfer to their Partners. The Partners' needs are highly variable, ranging from differences in institutional arrangements or corporate philosophies to the capacity to interpret and implement highly technical information. An assortment of strategies and tools is required to facilitate the exchange of information across scales and to a variety of audiences.

The KETE documents represent one element of the knowledge transfer process, and attempt to synthesize research results, from research conducted by the Network and elsewhere in Canada, into a SFM systems approach to assist foresters, planners and biologists with the development of alternative approaches to forest management planning and operational practices.

### SFM NETWORK PARTNERS AND AFFILIATES AUGUST 2008

#### **GRANTING COUNCILS**

- Networks of Centres of Excellence (NCE) Program
  - Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC)
  - Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada (SSHRC)

#### FUNDING PARTNERS

#### GOVERNMENTS

- Canadian Forest Service
- Environment Canada
- Parks Canada
- Government of Alberta
  Sustainable Resource Development
- Government of British Columbia
  Ministry of Forests and Range
- Government of Manitoba
  Department of Conservation
- Government of Newfoundland and Labrador
  Department of Natural Resources
- Government of Ontario
  - Ministry of Natural Resources
- Gouvernement du Québec

Ministère des Ressources naturelles, de la Faune et des Parcs

Government of Yukon Territory
 Energy, Mines and Resources

#### INDUSTRIES

- AbitibiBowater Inc.
- Ainsworth Lumber Co. Ltd.
- Alberta-Pacific Forest Industries Inc.
- Canadian Forest Products Ltd.
- Daishowa-Marubeni International Ltd.
- J.D. Irving, Limited
- LP Canada Ltd.
- · Manning Diversified Forest Products Ltd.
- Tembec Inc.
- Tolko Industries Ltd.
- Weyerhaeuser Company Ltd.

#### **ABORIGINAL GROUPS**

- Heart Lake First Nation
- Kamloops Indian Band
- Métis National Council
- Moose Cree First Nation
- Treaty 8 First Nations in Alberta

#### NON-GOVERNMENT ORGANIZATIONS (NGOs)

• Ducks Unlimited Canada

#### **INSTITUTION PARTNERS**

- University of Alberta (Host Institution; also a Funding Partner)
- Concordia University
- Dalhousie University
- Lakehead University
- McGill University
- Memorial University of Newfoundland
- Mount Royal College
- Royal Roads University
- Ryerson University
- Simon Fraser University
- Thompson Rivers University
- Trent University
- Université de Moncton
- Université de Montréal
- Université de Sherbrooke
- Université du Québec à Chicoutimi
- Université du Québec à Montréal
- Université du Québec à Rimouski
- Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières
- Université du Québec en Abitibi-Témiscamingue
- Université Laval
- University of British Columbia
- University of Calgary
- University of Guelph
- University of Lethbridge
- University of Manitoba
- University of New Brunswick
- University of Northern British Columbia
- University of Ottawa
- University of Regina
- University of Saskatchewan
- University of Toronto
- University of Victoria
- University of Waterloo
- University of Western Ontario
- University of Winnipeg
- Wilfrid Laurier University

#### **AFFILIATES**

- Canadian Institute of Forestry
- Forest Ecosystem Science Co-operative
- Forest Engineering Research Institute of Canada
- Lake Abitibi Model Forest
- Manitoba Model Forest
- National Aboriginal Forestry Association



Knowledge Exchange and Technology Extension Program (KETE) Sustainable Forest Management Network

## **Design of Forest Tenure Institutions**

# The Challenges of Governing Forests

By

Ilan Vertinsky<sup>1</sup> and Marty Luckert<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Director, Forest Economics and Policy Analysis Research Unit, University of British Columbia, Ilan.Vertinsky@sauder.ubc.ca

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Professor, Forest Economics and Policy, University of Alberta, Marty.Luckert@ualberta.ca



#### © 2010, Sustainable Forest Management Network

This publication may be reproduced in whole or in part for non-commercial use without permission provided that its source is fully acknowledged. Reproduction of this publication in whole or in part for any other purpose, including commercial sale or distribution, requires prior written permission from the Sustainable Forest Management Network.

No guarantee or warranty, expressed or implied, is made about the value or stability of the information or links made herein.

The views, conclusions and recommendations contained in this publication are those of the authors and should not be construed as endorsement by the Sustainable Forest Management Network.

Citation: Vertinsky, I., and Luckert, M. 2010. Design of Forest Tenure Institutions: The Challenges of Governing Forests. Sustainable Forest Management Network, Edmonton, Alberta 36 pp.

ISBN# 978-55261-242-2 Printed in Canada *Cette publication est aussi disponible en français* Published March 2010



## Preface

There is an emerging consensus that the forest sector is in a severe crisis. Unlike crises in the past, this crisis is not a mere reflection of temporary circumstances, a manifestation of normal economic cycles or a result of policy failures that marginal adjustments can correct. This crisis presents a persistent threat with far reaching implications for the future of the forest sector in Canada. It has become clear that the sector faces challenges that are fundamental and complex, requiring the articulation of new visions for the forest and bold actions. Forest tenure, an important policy instrument, has been viewed both as part of the problem but also as a key to the solution.

The Sustainable Forest Management Network, recognizing the role that tenure systems may play in coping with the challenges that the forest sector faces, funded a major national study that explored the design of new tenure institutions. The study investigated both the theoretical and the practical design features of Crown Forest tenures, the consequences of changes to tenure systems and strategies for bringing about the desired changes and their implementation. This synthesis report is based on the various studies that were produced as part of the project. Its objective is to share with decision makers, inside and outside the forest sector, an analysis of current tenure systems. It provides some critical information about how the tenure systems are working, what options might respond effectively to the challenges the forest sector faces and the potential consequences of changes in the system.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Prefacei			
1.0	Introduction		
2.0	The demand for tenure reform: the context		3
3.0	Redesign of Crown forests tenure systems in Canada		7
	3.1	Design Framework	7
	3.2	Governance Characteristics	7
	3.3	Tenure Characteristics3.3.1Characterization of rights	
		<ul><li>3.3.2 Obligations and constraints</li><li>3.3.3 Profiles of Canadian tenure systems: a critical view</li></ul>	11
4.0	Design of tenure systems		15
	4.1	Redesign of tenure systems without major changes to their basic governance structures	16
	4.2	Bold options for change	19
	4.3	Hybrid strategy	21
5.0	Getting from here to there: the challenges of implementation		22
6.0	Conclusions		23
Ackn	Acknowledgements		
References			25

## **1.0 Introduction**

Canada has about 402 million hectares of forest lands. 93% of these forest lands are publicly owned. 70% of the lands are under provincial jurisdiction while 16% are under federal or territorial control (CFS 2007). The governance of Crown lands is an important matter not only to Canadians but also to the global community. The global interest in Canadian forests stems from their ecological value for biodiversity, their role in the carbon cycle and their services as filters of water and air. Canadian forests constitute 10% of the world's forest cover and 30% of the world's boreal forest (CFS 2007) so there is an intense international interest in how Canadian forests are governed. Indeed this interest has been manifested in the past via direct attempts to influence the governance of Canadian forests by international NGOs through boycotts, lobbying and other means of social action.

Nationally the value of the forests is also manifested in many other dimensions. In 2007 Canada's forest sector supported directly or indirectly 800,000 jobs, about 5% of total employment in Canada. In addition to employment benefits they contributed to Canada's balance of payments, constituting close to 10% of Canada's merchandise exports and 3% of the country's gross domestic products (CFS 2007).

Forests are important both economically and socially in Canada. 324 communities rely on the forest industry for their economic sustainability. 80% of Aboriginal communities live in forested areas and 17,000 Aboriginal people are employed directly or indirectly by the forest products industry (CFS 2007). The multiple benefits produced by the forest for diverse stakeholder groups with different interests, values and aspirations and the social, economic and ecological importance of these benefits make the design of governance systems for forests a very complex task.

#### What is a governance system?

There are many characterizations of governance but for our purpose we adopted the following: "Governance is a process using institutions and structures of authority to allocate resources, coordinate and control activities and assign responsibilities and entitlements" (Bell 2003). A governance system sets the rules that shape the process of governance. A forest governance system determines among other issues:

- who owns forests (e.g. the crown, First Nations, or other private persons and companies);
- who has the authority to determine how forests are managed? (e.g. governments, markets);
- who has the actual responsibility for forest management? (e.g. government agencies, private companies);
- what are the constraints on decisions and who can impose and enforce them? (codes of forest practices, manuals, guidelines or contractual stipulations); and
- who is entitled to benefits derived from or contingent on forest activities and ownership and who must pay for the obligations that result from such activities? (e.g. government, First Nations, tenure holders, and communities).

The governance of Crown lands is an important matter not only to Canadians but also to the global community.

Multiple benefits produced by the forest for diverse stakeholder groups with different interests, values and aspirations and the social, economic and ecological importance of these benefits make the design of governance systems for forests a very complex task. Tenure systems were designed to attract investment and create economic activities and employment in forest regions. The complexity of forest governance systems has increased over time. Initially governments had simple objectives. Tenure systems were designed to attract investment and create economic activities and employment in forest regions. Forests were also regarded as a source of public finance to support a variety of public services and programs outside forest communities. The tenure system was generally confined to timber and typically referred to the "collection of legislation, regulation, contractual agreements, permits and government policies that define and constrain a person's right to harvest the province's timber" (BC MoF 1997).

'Sustained yield', 'processing requirements' and 'even flow' were the key ingredients introduced to create the incentives to achieve the investment, development, and employment objectives. Ownership of the Crown forest was not a contested issue (at least from the perspective of the Crown). The Crown transferred certain rights to harvest specific areas and/or volumes of timber from broader areas in return for some obligations that these tenure holders accepted. Sustained yield was the prevailing paradigm in forestry seeking preservation of forest benefits for the long run. Processing requirements (e.g. requiring timber to be processed locally as a condition of granting tenure) were introduced to attract investment, create jobs and stimulate economic development. 'Even-flow' constraints (imposing a minimum and maximum annual and periodic deviation from the allowable cut) were introduced to maintain employment stability. Under the prevailing conditions of the time, the system worked quite well and achieved its objectives in many locations. Tenure arrangements functioned as powerful tools of public policy. By creating a system of rights and obligations provincial governments guided the behaviour of private enterprises holding tenure toward desirable public goals (Haley, et al. 2006).

#### Forest Tenure Systems in Canada

Forest tenure systems are arrangements through which provincial governments in Canada delegate responsibility for the management of public forest lands (Crown forest lands) to other entities (e.g. private individuals, private companies, and communities). These arrangements involve rights granted to these entities (tenure holders) to harvest a certain volume of timber from specific geographical areas over a specific time horizon (tenure duration). They also specify the obligations that tenure holders are required to undertake. These obligations typically involve payment of stumpage and/or other fees and the acceptance of certain responsibilities for forest management (e.g. planning, silvicultural treatments, reforestation and conservation requirements). The obligations also include conditions and constraints under which these forest management activities take place, as well as other conditions associated with the use of the harvested timber (e.g. a requirement to provide local processing facilities) (Luckert 2010).

Shifts in public attitudes and growing awareness of the importance of forest nontimber values, specifically environmental values, led to a paradigm shift in forest management in the mid '70s and '80s and the introduction of the concept of integrated resource management and the modification of tenure obligations to



protect these values. Great uncertainty with respect to the environmental state of the forest resulted in the introduction of obligations to follow prescribed practices designed to protect environmental values. Governments were under increasing pressure to continuously adjust the tenure system to meet shifting public demands, industry pressures and new scientific information about forest ecology. In response, the tendency of governments was to introduce marginal changes to the existing tenure systems.

The result is tenure systems that are more complex and less transparent. The introduction of new rules resulted in rapidly increasing costs. The complex system of incentives became less predictable and often resulted in unanticipated counter-productive behaviour of tenure holders. Provincial Crown systems were failing to fully realize the environmental, economic and social objectives they were designed to achieve. Attempts to achieve one objective often resulted in losses to other objectives. Periodic reforms were attempted, however they did not prevent (and perhaps could not prevent) the current crisis.

The objective of this paper is to distill the lessons learned from past experiences, provide analysis of the current challenges that forest governance systems face, and articulate options that might improve the systems and help them respond to the current and future challenges facing the forest sector.

# 2.0 The demand for tenure reform: the context

Arguably, increasing unemployment, the shutdown of productive facilities, and mounting losses in and threats to the forest industry, currently command the attention of policy makers. This is occurring particularly in provinces where the forest sector contributes significantly to employment, and to the provincial and regional economies. The economic crisis in the forest industry started before the current financial crisis and the collapse of the housing industry in the United States in 2008. In 2007, direct employment in the Canadian forest industry had already fallen by 9.1% when compared to 2006 (CFS 2008). From April 2007 to April 2008, approximately 16,400 additional jobs were lost in the industry. Operating profits in 2007 were the lowest since 1992 and the return on capital was the lowest since 1993.

As such, the current financial crisis and the deepening global recession are having disastrous impacts on the employment and financial performance of the forest sector. The economic crisis threatens the social sustainability of approximately 300 rural communities which are economically dependent on the forest. Tenure arrangements that were sometimes effective at creating and ensuring stable employment and stable communities, are failing to achieve their social objectives. The hope is that changes in forest tenure policies may offer new sources of employment and diversification in the economic bases of these communities.

The willingness of governments to provide the industry with financial assistance has been severely limited by the 2006 softwood lumber agreement with the U.S. (Nelson *et al.* 2008). There is an increasing realization that temporary relief cannot resolve that which is fundamentally a structural problem. Forest tenure is arguably the most important policy instrument available to governments, creating both



Tenure systems are being viewed as a possible cause of some of the problems and their reforms are seen as potentially offering a solution.

The design of tenure systems is challenged by the demands of various non-government, nonindustry stakeholders and Aboriginal peoples for an increased voice in forest management. incentives and disincentives for investment and innovation that are vital to the renewal of the forest sector. Thus tenure systems are being viewed as a possible cause of some of the problems and their reforms are seen as potentially offering a solution. Consequently, a number of provinces are in the process of reviewing their tenure systems.

In addition to problems regarding competitiveness, the forest sector faces a number of other problems. These include the conservation of the forest resource base and the maintenance of the healthy forest ecosystems that provide a myriad of social goods and services. In 2006, an estimated 86,000 hectares of Canadian forest were converted to other land uses (primarily farm lands), while only 9000 hectares of trees were planted in non-forested areas (mainly agricultural lands) (CFS 2008:24). The ecological services the forest provides are threatened as this loss of productive forest takes place. While the effects of insects (e.g. mountain pine beetle), disease, fire and other natural disturbances dwarf the impacts of harvesting, the consequences of commercial management activities affect forest resources and the environment close to communities and thus assume a special social importance. There is a growing perception that forest management practices do not offer the level of protection for forests that society desires.

There is a conflict between the growing pressure on governments and the industry to cut costs by reducing the level of investment in environmental protection and the society's deepening commitment to environmental sustainability. This presents additional challenges to the design of forest tenure institutions. The UN Commission on the Environment and Development in its 1987 report "Our Common Future" reconciled concerns for the environment and conservation with aspirations associated with economic growth by introducing a new policy paradigm, that of sustainable growth. This paradigm embraces economic growth that takes place in an environmentally and socially responsible way. The Canadian Forest Innovation Council (2004) in its report "Model of Sustainability" saw sustainability as "a journey and not a destination of zero environmental impact and unlimited economic growth". This dynamic interpretation presents a difficult challenge to the complex and rather static tenure systems currently in place (Luckert 2010). A fluid concept of sustainability requires continuous improvement and adjustment in the forest management system to reflect shifting social values regarding trade-offs between social, economic and environmental sustainability.

The challenges posed above are closely related to another one – the demands by various non-government and non-industry stakeholders in the forests for an increased voice in their management (Linquist and Wellstead 2001). In particular, Aboriginal peoples and forest-based communities seek a greater voice in governing the forest and accessing its benefits. Demands of Aboriginal peoples for greater control and a greater share of benefits of forest lands which were part of their traditional territories have been partially recognized by the courts in Canada, increasing the uncertainties with regards to rights and obligations of some tenure holders. The existing tenure system could be affected even more fundamentally as the very basis of government ownership and the ability of provincial governments to regulate certain "Crown" forest lands is being challenged.



A sequence of court decisions has already increased constraints on government. For example, the decision of the Supreme Court of British Columbia in the 1997 Delgamuukw case entrenched the principle that there is always a duty of consultation. While the court allowed the provincial government to infringe on 'Aboriginal title', it established a tougher standard for such infringement and allowed such infringement only after adequate consultation and compensation (Ross and Smith 2002). The decision of the Supreme Court of British Columbia in 2004 with respect to the Haida case established that the government must consult and accommodate First Nations interests even if the Aboriginal title has not been proven. A 2007 court decision in the Tsilqot'in case has significantly increased uncertainty as to the force and effect of the BC Forest Act in areas where occupation, exclusivity and continuity of First Nations have been proven. Judge Vickers agreed in his decision that there was a proven title to 40% of the area claimed by the Tsilgot'in Nation but declined to officially award title to the land since in their claim, the Tsilqot'in Nation did not allow for partial award. The implications of the rulings are that there is uncertainty about the authority of provincial governments to authorize resource extraction on claimed lands and that forest planning regimes may infringe aboriginal rights and title to the lands (Tollefson 2008).

Disputes about Aboriginal rights are especially difficult to resolve when land claims treaties are not settled. Uncertainty with respect to Aboriginal titles is not limited to situations with unresolved land claims. Uncertainty with respect to Aboriginal titles exists in many cases even when land claims have been settled – many signed treaties did not extinguish all the rights of Aboriginal peoples on their traditional lands. Further, there are often ongoing issues about the interpretation and implementation of treaties. For example, the Little Red River Cree Nation in Alberta (LRRCN) signed Treaty 8 in 1899 on the understanding that it would share its land resources with settlers in a way that would not undermine Cree traditional uses of forest resources and their relationship with the forest. The LRRCN claim that the Crown has consistently failed to honor its commitments under the treaty (Stevenson and Perrault 2008).

Many Aboriginal leaders regard access to timber (e.g. awards of tenure) as only interim steps in settling land claims or fulfilling existing treaties. A final resolution of disputes needs to address the issue of title and the more difficult issue of jurisdiction (or self government) over traditional lands (Bombay 2008). Indeed, "most federal, provincial and territorial agencies now recognize that no major natural resource developments or conservation decisions can be made in Canada's forests without significant Aboriginal support" (Stevenson and Perreault, 2008:10). A key challenge with respect to the redesign of forest tenure systems is to forge agreements with Aboriginal peoples about the governance of traditional lands which respect their rights while allowing sustainable management of the forest until all issues of ownership and rights are resolved through treaties and/or court actions.

An example of successful interim solution is the 2002 Agreement Respecting New Relationship between the Cree nation and the government of Quebec. This agreement resolved many legal disputes the Cree had with the province. The agreement, known as "La Paix des Braves", established rules for forestry operations on Cree lands – many of which are based on Cree culture and knowledge. It has

A key challenge in the redesign of forest tenure systems is to forge agreements with Aboriginal peoples about the governance of traditional lands which respect their rights while allowing sustainable management of the forest until all issues of ownership and rights are resolved. Reconciling increasing pressures for decentralization of forest governance, concerns about global objectives and local capacity for management of forest resources are issues that must be addressed by future tenure systems.

Increased globalization, scientific advances and rapid technological progress are changing the context in which forests are governed. been suggested that the most innovative feature of the agreement is the definition of the role of Cree tallymen as managers of traditional trap lines (which have become the key forest management unit for forestry operations on Cree lands units) (Stevenson and Perrault 2008:60).

Other communities in the forest also demand a greater voice and access to benefits through political channels. It is argued that communities most impacted by changes in their immediate forest environment should have more control over that environment. They are more likely to provide better stewardship as they have more intimate knowledge of their environment and stronger incentives to preserve or even enhance it. Communities, arguably, are also likely to manage their environments in a more holistic fashion with a longer term orientation. It is also argued that preferred access to local resources may help diversify local economies and provide a basis for community sustainability (Luckert 1999). Reconciling increasing pressures for decentralization of forest governance, concerns about global objectives and local capacity for management of forest resources are issues that must be addressed by future tenure systems.

Increased globalization, scientific advances and rapid technological progress are changing the context in which forests are governed. Globalization has increased international interdependencies and has led to more uncertainty in economic environments and increases in global competition. Canadian forest product firms are now in competition in all of their foreign markets (as well as in some Canadian markets) with low cost producers that have access to vast supplies of wood and relatively inexpensive labour. To cope with increasing competition, the industry will be required to restructure so as to exploit economies of scale or differentiate their products. This will require tenure systems which facilitate innovation and a restructuring of the industry.

Rapid technological progress is shifting the values of different forest products and fiber attributes. To obtain the highest value for society from its forests, the tenure system must adapt quickly to both changes in technologies and shifts in social values (including changes in consumption patterns). Some of the most valuable uses of the forest will involve new skills and knowledge, requiring the entry of new players. Tenure systems of the future must accommodate such changes in organization, technologies, products and players. The high level of change anticipated will increase uncertainty and risk. Mitigation of the increases in risk can be accomplished largely by maintaining diversity in the biological and economic systems. Accommodations to new and changing economic and social realities must be accomplished while fulfilling the aspirations of Aboriginal and other forest dependent communities and ensuring environmental sustainability.

Ensuring environmental sustainability and maintenance of the health of Canada's forests are perhaps the most difficult challenges that tenure systems face as a consequence of climate change. Climate change may require major adaptation in forest practices and the patterns of production of forest benefits. The uncertainties



involved require adaptive management systems that respond sensitively to new scientific information. Governing in the uncertain and highly dynamic environments of the future will require a diverse, rapidly adaptive system which encourages learning and innovation and accommodates change.

# 3.0 Redesign of Crown forests tenure systems in Canada

#### 3.1 Design Framework

This section articulates a tenure design framework (i.e. the attributes that define the relevant dimensions of possible changes in the system). We explore the possible impacts of these characteristics on the various aspects of performance by which we evaluate the tenure system (i.e. their ability to meet the challenges described previously). The design framework must consider the overarching governance principles that influence the design and operations of forest tenure systems as well as the specific characteristics that directly affect the behaviour of stakeholders (in particular tenure holders), the costs they bear and the benefits they receive.

#### 3.2 Governance Characteristics

There is uncertainty with respect to governance of Crown forests through forest tenure systems as a result of court decisions regarding the rights of Aboriginal peoples in areas of what were presumed to be Crown forests. To ensure the legitimacy of tenure systems (at least as a transitory measure until the ownership rights to specific lands are determined through future court decisions or through negotiation of treaties), meaningful involvement of Aboriginal peoples in the design and operations of tenure systems and accommodation of their rights is required. The degree and form of such involvement may depend on the technical capacity of the particular First Nation to be involved in various decision processes and the extent of conflicting claims over the specific areas it claims. More generally, the redesign of new tenure systems and the decisions made within tenure systems should reflect the growing public demand to move away from the close and somewhat exclusive government and forest industry relationships to a broader involvement of stakeholders in decision making concerning public lands Howlett and Rayner 2001). Such a shift from central hierarchal decision-making to one involving stakeholders' network decision-making can also have a geographical dimension. This empowers those who live closer and are more affected by the conditions of the forest (i.e. geographical decentralization of decision making) (Luckert 2010).

Another dimension of governance concerns the basis of decision-making. The historical evolution of tenure systems saw a shift in emphasis from economic to environmental to social values (Haley and Nelson 2007). The present challenges to the sector require a holistic approach which integrates social, economic and

Governing in the uncertain and highly dynamic environments of the future will require a diverse, rapidly adaptive system which encourages learning and innovation and accommodates change. A shift in governance may see newly created markets for social benefits of the forest and the incorporation of private certification systems. environmental concerns in defining sustainable forest management. While social values and efficiency considerations are an important part of such a concept, incorporation of science in planning (ecosystem-based management) is inevitable. Efficiency concerns may suggest decentralization of operational decision-making through an increased emphasis on markets and the introduction of economic instruments to replace, when possible, command and control systems (Pearse 1998, Stanbury and Vertinsky 1998). Such a shift in governance may see newly created markets for social benefits of the forest (Weber and Adamowicz 2002) including non-use benefits associated with conservation areas and biodiversity protection. The shift may also include the incorporation of private certification systems as complements to government regulatory systems to ensure environmental sustainability (Luckert 2010).

#### 3.3 Tenure Characteristics

The governance principles described above provide a framework for the design of tenure systems that specify the processes that regulate the assignment of rights and obligations of tenure holders. Haley and Luckert (1990), following concepts put forth by Scott and Johnson (1983) developed a classification system that identifies the most important design features that distinguish tenure systems. This system was extended as part of a Sustainable Forest Management Network tenure project that provided a more complete identification of obligations (e.g. stumpage fees), constraints (e.g. forest practices requirements), and profiles that characterize different tenure systems. It is described in Luckert *et al.* (2010).

We use this framework to characterize the existing state of major tenure systems in Canada and explore whether there is a compelling case to consider changing them. We also use the framework to examine what needs to be changed and what the likely benefits would be from alternative approaches. The classification system is based on the idea that tenure systems can be characterized in terms of the rights they bestow on tenure holders, the obligations that tenure holders assume as well as any constraints imposed on them that attenuate the rights they receive. The classification system also identifies the types of processes associated with the allocation of rights and the determination of obligations. The benchmark is full control and exclusive access to the benefit of the resource without any obligations (unfettered ownership). Note that such unfettered ownership does not exist in Canada even on private forest lands.

#### 3.3.1 Characterization of rights

**Allocation of rights** specifies how tenures are awarded and the scope of rights granted. Rights can be allocated in a competitive bidding process, on the basis of an administrative decision that includes some objective criteria, on the basis of discretion, or on some mixture of allocation methods. Competitive bidding (as in BC) is designed to increase economic efficiency. An allocation on the basis of



Sustainable Forest Management Network

multiple criteria (as in Ontario) allows the government to explicitly promote social objectives such as creation of employment or greater care of the environment. Allocation in a non-competitive way based on discretion provides maximum flexibility to the government to pursue any objective it may wish but lacks transparency.

The scope of rights is defined in terms of their:

- **comprehensiveness** (right to what resources and what benefits are given),
- allotment type (whether the tenure is area- or volume-based),
- *exclusiveness* (who may be excluded from enjoying a given property right),
- *transferability* (can these rights be transferred and what conditions are imposed on these transfers),
- *duration and renewability* (the period of time for which these rights can be exercised and under what conditions can they be renewed or replaced with a similar rights), and
- *security* (what is the confidence that the rights will not be attenuated or cancelled and what compensation will be received if such events occur).

Rights awarded by the Crown are generally exclusive but narrowly defined (focus on timber). Rights to various products from the same land can be granted to separate entities (e.g. rights to harvest softwoods versus hardwoods, rights to minerals, gas and oil, rights to recreation usages). The problem with overlapping tenures is the possibility of uncoordinated interference and waste in infrastructure development (e.g. building separate and uncoordinated networks of access roads) (Luckert 1993). A more comprehensive tenure may increase efficiency in deriving multiple benefits from the forest as the tenure holder has the incentives to coordinate the management of all the resources available and consider trade-offs that exploitation of some resources impose on the exploitation of others.

However, granting comprehensive tenure to one entity may not necessarily lead to full utilization of all resources as this entity may not have the expertise to exploit some benefits or may not pay attention to opportunities outside its dominant business (e.g. if rights to forest resources were granted to oil and gas companies). In such cases, awarding tenure rights for different resources to separate entities can be desirable. Furthermore, private entities are likely to neglect socially valuable forest resources for which there are no markets (e.g. environmental benefits, wildlife). In such cases, there is a compelling argument for the government to retain the rights to these resources.



the same area of land.

Transferability may provide more incentive to invest in forest lands as improvements to these lands will be reflected in the price tenure holders can obtain if they chose to sell their tenures to other entities.

The longer the term in which tenure rights and tenure renewability can be exercised, the higher their value and the greater the incentive for tenure holders to invest in the areas they manage. Most forest land tenures in Canada allot rights for harvesting a particular forest area. Only in British Columbia are there large forested areas where the rights to harvest are defined in forest licenses as *volumes* of timber to be cut annually (or periodically) from broadly defined regions. *Area-based* tenure may provide incentives for tenure holders to accumulate knowledge of their operational land base, while *volume-based* tenure holders have few incentives to invest in such knowledge as they may never return to the areas they harvest and manage. However, volume-based tenures may give the government more control in directing harvest, as has been the case in British Columbia in response to mountain pine beetle infestations.

Most tenures in Canada are transferable with ministerial permission. In British Columbia, all tenures with the exception of community forest agreements are transferable and generally divisible. The government can stop transfers of some tenures if such transfers are likely to unduly restrict competition in log or forest products markets. Transferability may provide more incentives to invest in forest lands as improvements to these lands will be reflected in the price tenure holders can obtain if they chose to sell their tenure holdings to other entities. Without the ability to transfer (sell) tenure rights, improvements may be difficult to realize. Transferability can also improve efficiency as inefficient producers may be more willing to sell their tenure rights.

Most of the large Crown forest tenures in Canada are given with terms ranging between 20 to 25 years (potentially motivated by the need to secure capital to invest in processing plants). Most intermediate and smaller tenures have shorter terms, in the majority of cases, less than 5 years. Most of the major tenures are renewable (normally 5 years before the end of the term) after a performance review. The longer the term in which tenure rights and tenure renewability can be exercised, all other factors being constant, the higher their value and the greater the incentives for tenure holders to invest in the areas they manage. However, this is more likely to result in investments in processing facilities and not silviculture (Luckert and Haley 1993, Arnot 2007). There is empirical evidence that the incentives of tenure holders to invest in forest activities are very low (Rodrigues *et al.* 1998).

The value of the tenure agreements depends on the confidence that tenure holders have that tenure rights conferred will not be abrogated or significantly attenuated. In most provinces, governments have the right to change tenures to meet changing policy objectives, inventory information, and new scientific and professional knowledge. The sense of security is affected by the judgments of tenure holders of the propensity of the government to introduce changes that will adversely affect them (Arnot 2007). These perceptions may be based on past experiences, ideologies of governments, general economic conditions and public attitudes.



An important factor that increases the sense of security is the existence of statutory provisions to compensate tenure holders for losses associated with cancellation or modifications of tenures held. Even if other considerations of tenures allow it, without security or the promise of compensation, the willingness of tenure holders to invest or conduct their forestry activities at standards that exceed the minimums stipulated by regulation is likely to be very low. Compensation is generally limited to significant "taking" of rights in order to provide flexibility to governments to adjust policies without accruing unreasonable costs. Businesses must bear normal levels of regulatory risks as they do accept normal levels of business risks.

#### 3.3.2 Obligations and constraints

In return for the rights for harvesting, tenure holders accept certain obligations and various restrictions on their operations. Fiscal obligations associated with tenure arrangements receive significant attention from tenure holders (typically complaining that they are too high) and competitors and sometimes their governments (complaining that they are too low). These obligations include a variety of charges but the most prominent ones are stumpage fees. Stumpage fees are direct charges on the volume of logs harvested. Stumpage fees have a significant impact on the profitability of forestry activities as they often represent a large portion of the delivered wood cost to the processing plant (Pricewaterhouse Coopers and International WOOD Markets Research Inc. 2003).

The methods used to determine and collect stumpage fees play an important role in shaping the behaviour of tenure holders. In particular, low stumpage fees send signals to firms to indicate that wood is not worth much, and can lead to reduced incentives to invest in silviculture and in wood saving technologies for processing plants (Luckert and Haley 1990, Luckert and Bernard 1993). Arrangements to determine fees vary among and within some provinces. In most provinces, stumpage rates are set periodically by governments in schedules based on appraisals, negotiations or arbitrary decisions. Some schedules are changed to reflect market conditions, usually inaccurately and with a significant time lag. Appraisals may be based on engineering and accounting assessments of costs, profit and risk allowances or on data from presumed competitive markets adjusted to the specific conditions associated with a particular sale. For example, market based appraisal systems are used in the coastal region of BC and in New Brunswick. If the price samples used are not representative of local conditions and/or appropriate adjustments are not made, the price system would be distorted - leading to inefficiencies.

Since long-term tenure holders have forest management responsibilities, there is a need to estimate the costs involved in fulfilling these obligations and reduce the fees paid. The problem lies in obtaining reliable cost information and in determining the appropriate profit and risk allowances (not an easy task). If log market information is not available, appraisals can be based on end-product price information. Stumpage fees often vary by the type of end product produced. Such pricing does not necessarily reflect the best values that can be obtained from timber and reduces the incentives for processors to direct a log to uses where the best value can be obtained. Furthermore, some schedules are determined by governments on the basis of revenue needs or social and political considerations.

There is an increased sense of security when there are statutory provisions to compensate tenure holders for losses associated with cancellation or modifications of tenures.

The methods used to determine and collect stumpage fees play an important role in the behaviour of tenure holders. Most provinces in Canada have some type of appurtenancy requirements for their major industrial forest tenures.

Tenure holders must also satisfy a variety of constraints imposed on their operations to meet a variety of publically sanctioned objectives. These requirements have grown over the years and have become very complex. A competitive auction system can remedy many of these problems, but only British Columbia uses competitive auctions to sell a significant proportion of its harvest. To create competitive markets, it is necessary however, to have a sufficient number of buyers and sellers, and buyers and sellers must have adequate access to information. It is also important to prevent large competitors from dominating the market and engaging in predatory behaviour (i.e. buying larger quantities than optimal, driving prices up and driving smaller, weaker competitors out of the market). In systems where stumpage fees are based on prices obtained from bid systems, large companies may also attempt to manipulate stumpage fees by reducing the quantities they bid, thereby reducing the amounts they pay for stumpage on their tenures.

Since Crown tenure systems were conceived initially with the idea of fostering economic development, tenure arrangements typically required holders, as a condition of acquiring timber harvesting rights to own and operate wood processing facilities (mill appurtenancy requirement). Most provinces in Canada, except for British Columbia, have some type of appurtenancy requirements for their major industrial forest tenures. Alberta, Quebec, New Brunswick and Newfoundland also have such requirements for mid-sized tenures. Appurtenancy requirements reduce the opportunities of tenure holders to direct harvested trees to their optimal use. By directing timber to specific mills, these requirements restrict new entrants from gaining access to timber. These requirements also prevent the rationalization of production by directing wood supply from a wide area to central, large processing plants to achieve economies of scale. In the shortterm, appurtenancy requirements may conserve employment in particular locations but in the long-term, these requirements may be a source of great inefficiencies that prevent the sector as a whole from maintaining its competitive position in global markets.

Tenure holders must also satisfy a variety of constraints imposed on their operations. These operational controls are imposed to ensure that tenure holders, through their operations, meet a variety of publically sanctioned objectives. These requirements have grown over the years and have become very complex. Typically such requirements include reforestation, other silviculture requirements and adherence to set standards of forest practices designed to protect the forest environment and forest health. Management requirements also specify planning and reporting processes. Harvest related requirements set utilization standards (i.e. regulate size and quantities of trees that must be harvested and removed from the site), control logging methods and dictate the size and patterns of clear cuts. Generally, any binding constraint on forest operations is likely to reduce the shortterm profitability of that operation (Boyd and Hyde 1989).

All provinces have harvesting requirements that control the maximum rate of harvesting on Crown lands under licenses that specify 'annual allowable cuts'. Some provinces require a minimum level of cut in addition to the maximum, presumably an attempt to 'even the flow' of production and thus maintain employment and revenue. Some flexibility is provided by allowing annual



Sustainable Forest Management Network

deviations within specified periods. The province of British Columbia eliminated minimum cut requirements to allow firms "to better plan their wood operations and provide more opportunity to sell into good market conditions, returning more revenue and jobs to the province" (BC MoF 2004, 1).

All provinces control forest practices. Pearse (2001, 12) noted that "over the decades, regulations governing forest practices have multiplied, from basic fire precautions to detailed rules about road building, logging patterns, utilization standards, silviculture and reforestation". Demands for environmental protection in the 1990s have led to the introduction of requirements for protecting wildlife, soils and riparian areas. Compliance with the various regulations has been extremely costly (van Kooten 1994, Haley 1996, Clarke 1997) and it is not clear if the desired results were obtained, nor whether the means to obtain the results were cost effective.

All provinces in Canada are committed to sustainable forest management. The approaches taken in the different provinces to achieve this objective vary to some degree. Most provinces (except BC) require tenure holders to develop strategic plans. The contents of these plans are guided by official planning manuals. In British Columbia, area-based tenure holders (Tree Farm Licenses) are also required to develop detailed strategic plans. All provinces require the preparation of detailed operational plans. These plans must be reviewed and approved by the governments. Regulation of forest practices is done through a complex mix of manuals, planning requirements and specific regulations. In practice, the planning manuals and planning requirements act like regulations as specified standards are incorporated in plans which bind tenure holders.

There are important differences in the degree to which the regulatory system in each province prescribes particular practices as opposed to setting standards for results. Enforcement of the regulations and plans vary among the provinces in their reliance on self-regulation (as in Alberta and Ontario) as opposed to more intensive use of government inspections (as in British Columbia and Quebec). Arguably a results-based regulatory system is more efficient than a command and control system that prescribes specific practices when the desired results can be clearly identified and performance can be inexpensively and accurately measured. A results-based system of regulation allows the tenure holder, who is acquainted with local conditions and its own capabilities, to try to optimize the selection of strategies to produce the desired outcomes. Unfortunately, in many cases, standards for results cannot be clearly defined and measurement of the results is uncertain. In such cases, the identification of specific strategies or constraints on actions may accrue lower transaction and enforcement costs. Such a strategy will depend less on trust and more on regulatory control.

The inherent difficulty in implementing effective, flexible result-based regulatory systems to guide forest practices is reflected in the reversals experienced in several provinces to a higher reliance on regulatory prescriptions (Golec and Luckert 2008). As opposed to a tight command and control regime, there is a delegation of authority to professional discretion (as in Alberta). However, studies have shown

Enforcement of forest management regulations and plans vary among the provinces in their reliance on selfregulation (as in Alberta and Ontario) as opposed to more intensive use of government inspections (as in British Columbia and Quebec). An alternate regulatory approach is the use of certification by independent nongovernmental certification organizations.

Greater diversity in tenure arrangements may be desirable to permit institutional customization to local conditions. that professional foresters tend to have different values regarding sustainable forest management than a cross-section of the general public (McFarlane and Boxall 2000). As an alternative or complementary approach, certification by independent non-governmental certification organizations (e.g. Forest Stewardship Council, Sustainable Forest Initiative or Canadian Standards Association) could be used. The Forest Stewardship Council standard is generally the only certification scheme endorsed by environmental non-government organizations (Tan 2003, Alberta Wilderness Association *et al.* 2001). The issue then becomes which certification system should the government delegate authority to and whether that system will reflect public preferences. The diversity of views on what constitutes sustainable forest management, and the diversity of institutions that have been developed to reflect these different views makes harmonization of tenure policies with certification and criteria and indicators for forest management a difficult issue to resolve (Golec and Luckert 2008).

An important constraint on tenure rights is the barrier in most provinces on international and inter-provincial shipments and exports of unprocessed logs. Generally, international exports of logs from public lands require government permission, and in many cases inter-provincial trade is also restricted. Constraints imposed on exports of logs are designed to encourage local processing. However, they result in lower values of domestic timber thereby reducing the incentives for silviculture and to conserve wood in processing. Log export controls were used by the U.S. as one argument to impose controversial duties on Canadian exports (Nelson and Vertinsky 2005, Nelson *et al.* 2008).

#### 3.3.3 Profiles of Canadian tenure systems: a critical view

Though there are about 40 major tenure types in Canada, each of which varies considerably in its details, the general features of the systems are similar. In most provinces, the majority of the timber rights are granted through one or two tenure arrangements. Eighty percent of the AAC in four provinces is allocated through one type of tenure (Haley 2008). Since there is a large variation within provinces in local aspirations, objectives, needs, the nature of the forests, and the economy, greater diversity in tenure arrangements may be desirable to permit institutional customization to local conditions. British Columbia has the most diverse tenure system and therefore provides a good example of how such diversity can be used to accommodate local aspirations and conditions.

Tenure systems in Canada are largely inflexible, imposing tight constraints on forestry practices and operations. There is a concern that tenure systems have contributed to the failure of the forest industry to maintain its position in the global market. Constraints in most systems prevent the entry of new actors and new products and largely restrict sectoral renewal and restructuring. The focus of many tenure systems was redistribution of wealth rather than wealth creation. The systems are highly centralized frustrating the aspirations of Aboriginal peoples and forest dependent communities to have a stronger voice in controlling the forest and a share in its benefits. The inflexibility and complexity of most tenure systems in Canada will make adjustment to climate change difficult (Williamson 2006) and make environmental protection more costly than perhaps necessary.



## 4.0 Design of tenure systems

A discussion paper issued by the Ministry of Forest and Range in British Columbia (2008) defined a design problem for tenure arrangements. It suggested that tenure arrangements do two basic things (1) they specify the division of labour between the Crown and the tenure holder and (2) they establish the rights, obligations, penalties, and inducements, that create the incentives for the tenure holder to act in a way that fulfills the objectives of the Crown. The assessment of these arrangements must be viewed in terms of the following criteria:

- whether the functions that need to be performed to achieve the Crown's objectives are being performed by those best equipped to perform them, and
- (2) whether the incentives that are created serving to ensure that those non-governmental entities performing the functions are doing them in the best way to serve the public's interests.

The paper recognizes however, the difficulty that exists in accomplishing this design task for any sector. Difficulties emerge because:

- the Crown does not necessarily have a clear view of what the public wants (i.e. what are the objectives that best represent the public interest),
- there may be an unpredictable change over time in the mix of benefits the public expects from the forest,
- there may be an unpredictable change in the desired practices (e.g. technological change, changes in forest conditions, changes in market conditions), and
- there is incomplete knowledge about responses of participants in the system (e.g. tenure holders) to different incentives set by system designers.

The challenges outlined above point to several important additional tenure system design criteria including that:

- the system needs to be more responsive to public values and changes in these values,
- the system needs to be efficient in accomplishing its objectives (i.e. keep transaction and other non-productive costs to a necessary minimum),
- the system needs to be more responsive to variation in local conditions and to local stakeholder objectives and characteristics,





The removal of some of the major operational constraints is likely to increase efficiency with little impact on objectives that they have failed to achieve anyway.

The removal of mill appurtenancy requirements, minimum cut controls and log exports controls could help obtain the highest economic values of timber resources.

- the system must cope well with high levels of uncertainty and risks, and
- the system must be transparent, simple (as much as possible while discharging its complex tasks) and fair.

System transparency and simplicity are important to ensure that failures of incentives created to achieve certain expected behaviours can be identified and corrected and that signals sent by the system to participants are noticed and not misunderstood. Simplicity may also reduce uncertainty while simultaneously allowing agility in response to changing circumstances. Fairness is important to ensure support for the system by all participants (i.e. ensure the system's legitimacy).

With the above criteria and with current and future challenges that the tenure system is facing in mind, we start our exploration of design options. We first explore changes in attributes that keep the character of the system largely unchanged (Haley and Nelson 2007). We then explore some radical modifications that result in changes in governance structure as well as simultaneous alterations of numerous characteristics that are typical in the current systems of tenure arrangements in Canada.

## 4.1 Redesign of tenure systems without major changes to their basic governance structures

Our analysis of the main features of tenure systems in Canada revealed systems with a mix of complex and inflexible operational constraints on tenure holders. Many of these operational constraints, which were introduced to deal with specific problems or achieve certain social objectives, are failing to achieve their objectives while imposing high costs in terms of the competitiveness of the system. Therefore, if carefully considered, removal of some of the major operational constraints is likely to increase efficiency with little impact on objectives that they have failed to achieve anyway.

Allowing tenure holders to make free choices with respect to product mix, inputs mix, choices of technology, the allocation of capital and markets they choose to serve will increase efficiency and help improve competitiveness. In particular, the removal of mill appurtenancy requirements, minimum cut controls and log exports controls could help obtain the highest economic values of timber resources. The short-term social costs include increases in unemployment and closure of some processing facilities. However, without increases in efficiency even larger numbers of plants are likely to close down and the long-term employment in the sector will decline further; a process we are, likely already seeing. Such a process could lead to a smaller but more efficient industry that is allowed to sell more in good markets and reduce sales in poor markets and that can adjust its product mix to achieve higher values from the resource.



To encourage entrepreneurship, and innovation, consideration could be given to making tenure rights more divisible and transferable. The security of rights could be increased by introducing clearer and more comprehensive compensation policies if these rights are taken or seriously weakened. Since forest tenures in most provinces are almost fully allocated, the vesting of secure, tradable property rights could provide the incentives needed for small incumbents to transfer their rights and facilitate the entry of new participants. Inefficient incumbents are better off selling their rights to those who can get higher returns from the forest and thus are willing to pay more for the rights than their value to these incumbents. In order for the market for tenure rights to work, however, reliable and transparent information about inventories associated with tenure lands is necessary. Moreover, transfers of forest property rights could fail to achieve the desired results if it leads to greater concentration of the forest industry.

Regulation of forest practices under many of the existing command and control systems in Canada is inflexible and costly. A shift to result-based regulation (where feasible) and decentralized enforcement may increase both the efficiency and effectiveness of regulation. Allowing tenure holders more choices among means to achieve higher order environmental objectives requires, as we have noted earlier, a thorough understanding of ecosystems and means-ends relationships of interventions to the systems. Such understanding is limited at present but can be improved through adaptive management (Duinker and Trevisan 2003) and scientific research.

Even in the absence of such knowledge, policy tools that facilitate decentralization in the development of local prescriptions and enforcement are likely to reduce the costs of regulation. For example, the introduction of tradable land use rights can provide the means for some flexibility in complying with certain types of prescriptions. In this system (often called "cap and trade") rights to utilize the resources are capped (i.e. an explicit threshold is set for the amount of the resource that can be used or disturbed). Tenure holders who set aside certain portions of their lands for conservation above the requirements can sell unused rights generated by over-compliance to other tenure holders. Buyers of tradable rights can then put these rights towards meeting their obligations to set aside land for conservation out of their tenure holding (Weber and Adamowicz 2002). More generally, cap and trade systems can satisfy environmental objectives while minimizing the costs of compliance (e.g. using lands with similar biodiversity values but of lower economic value for conservation instead of lands which are more suitable to commercial exploitation). Separate markets may need to be established for different ecosystem types and different environmental objectives.

Delegation of some regulatory functions to independent non-government environmental certification organizations has the advantage of possible value creation through "green product" differentiation and reduction of costs to the public purse. For example, governments may choose to cede some regulatory functions to certification organizations or their approved SFM certifiers. In such cases, the certification organizations set standards that the tenure holders must follow in order to receive accreditation. The certifiers have monitoring and



British Columbia has introduced many of the above innovations in response to concerns about the declining competitiveness of the forest industry in the province – with disappointing short term results.

The consideration of bold options for systematic change is needed to create new visions, culture and business models. enforcement functions relieving the government from the need to inspect the operations of certified tenure holders. The certification may add value to the products from the certified lands if consumers are willing to pay the "green premium" (e.g. Kruger 2010). Under such conditions, tenure holders may be willing to adopt higher levels of environmental stewardship than required by law, expecting to be rewarded through the market. Indeed, even if the government does not require firms to obtain certification, companies may be forced to obtain certification as part of their attempt to maintain social license to operate. For example, it is almost impossible to export forest products to the U.K. without obtaining FSC or an equivalent certification. This is because buyers' organizations, consisting of most of the large retail stores and other large buyers of forest products in the U.K., are committed to buying only certified products.

A less attractive option of decentralization is one of self-regulation (i.e. delegation to professional certification of forest managers). In such cases, potential conflict between professional standards and loyalty to one's employer or fear for one's job may erode trust in the regulatory system.

In the spring of 2003, British Columbia introduced many of the above innovations in response to concerns about the declining competitiveness of the forest industry in the province (Niquidet et al. 2007). The results of these policy changes have been somewhat disappointing. The industry does not appear to be revitalized as the province forecasted. Visible changes in the strategic direction of incumbent forest companies are not obvious. Few entrepreneurial firms seem to have emerged. Instead, firms continue to be locked in to the production of commodities and in their old business models of maintaining competitiveness by continuous rationalization of production (closing inefficient plants and reducing their workforce) and cost reduction. Investment remains low. The resource base has shrunk and forest health has deteriorated with the mountain pine beetle infestation. One can reasonably expect that when the current crisis passes, there will be a period where a leaner industry will be able to return to a profitable path. However we have yet to see whether this re-emergence will proceed with a "business as usual" perspective. In short, we do not know yet whether the improvements introduced by the British Columbia reform are likely to shift the strategic direction of the sector to a sustainable economic, environmental and social path.

The following quote in Timmins Daily Press on the 18<sup>th</sup> of February, 2009 suggests that few believe that small changes in existing tenure systems and related forest policies in Ontario, and by implication, the other tenure systems in Canada, are likely to change the future of the sector. The Daily observed:

Given that more than 10,000 forestry jobs have been lost in Northern Ontario maybe Einstein's wise counsel that 'we cannot solve problems by using the same kind of thinking we used when we created them' will finally be heard.

Our studies led us to a similar conclusion – the consideration of bold options for systemic change is needed to create new visions, culture and business models for managing the forests.



Sustainable Forest Management Network

#### 4.2 Bold options for change

Haley and Nelson (2007) and Nelson (2008) have explored experiences with bold reform of managing public forest lands in various jurisdictions, to assess whether new models of governing public lands can lead to more effective ways of achieving public objectives. They identified three approaches that may improve efficiency and competitiveness of public forest management. These approaches included **corporatization**, **privatization** and decentralization **augmented by devolution of government authority.** 

Corporatization involves retaining public ownership of forest land but placing management of some of the public forests under the authority of a government run corporation (Crown corporation) or a separate government department charged with operating as a for-profit corporation – i.e. conducting its affairs on a commercial basis. In some jurisdictions, such departments are called "trading departments". Germany, Australia, New Zealand and Sweden introduced such new governance forms to their public forests with some measure of success. In Sweden and in New Zealand, these reforms proved to be steps in the process of privatization.

An important factor in corporatization is the ability to separate the forests into zones according to use. Forest lands can be divided into areas that are used primarily for timber production and other areas where they are managed primarily for conservation and other public goods. In New Zealand and in most of the states of Australia (except Tasmania), the separation was natural. Corporatization (and later privatization) was focused on exotic plantations where timber values dominated. The management of indigenous forests, where conservation values are high, was often left under the management of traditional government departments. In other jurisdictions (e.g. the provinces of Canada) success of such restructuring of forest governance would best be preceded by careful land use zoning separating lands with dominant commercial uses from those with dominant environmental and other public goods values. The former would be good candidates for corporatization (or privatization) while the latter would be best run by traditional government departments.

The experiences in both New Zealand and in Australia showed improvements in the efficiency of operations achieved mainly through a reduction in employment, a reduction in the quality of timber sold (in some cases to match buyers willingness to pay) and increased prices. However, Haley and Nelson (2007) observed that corporatization has some important deficiencies. The financial discipline imposed by markets on private companies is lacking in corporatization and thus reduces the motivation of management to make hard decisions to increase efficiency. In New Zealand, complaints about undue political influence led to a government decision to privatize the corporation.

Privatization frequently refers to the complete transfer of ownership rights to the private sector. Though arguments for against the sale of Canada's forests have been developed (e.g. Haley 1986, Haley and Nelson 2007, Kant 2010b) we suggest that

Three approaches have been identified that may improve the efficiency and competitiveness of public forest management – corporatization, privatization and decentralization.

An important factor in corporatization is the ability to separate the forests into zones according to use. An interpretation of privatization that recognizes degrees of private control is useful.

Another governance alternative is regional decentralization where ownership and control of regional forests are transferred to regional boards and revenues from forestry operations are shared between different levels of government. a more nuance interpretation of privatization that recognizes degrees of private control is useful (Luckert and Vertinsky 2007). Thus privatization can relate to the timber on the land and not to the land itself and can vary in the time horizon that such rights can be exercised (e.g. rights to the timber in perpetuity as opposed to one or a specified number of rotations). The experiences in Australia and New Zealand confirmed that efficiency increased more with privatization than corporatization mainly due to sharper employment reductions and more effective marketing. However, there was no evidence of increased investment from the private sector or the emergence of entrepreneurial companies that the advocates of privatization had anticipated. Indeed, a focus on the financial aspect of plantation management led to a significant reduction in investment in reforestation and silviculture (Nelson and Vertinsky 2005, Nelson 2008).

Another governance alternative advocated by Haley and Nelson (2007) was regional decentralization where ownership and control of regional forests are transferred to regional boards and revenues from forestry operations are shared between different levels of government. The strategy is attractive because it removes the direct link between timber production management and the fiber demand of specific processing plants, a greater voice is given to stakeholders living near the forests and there is a more comprehensive scope of forest resources to be managed by the regional boards. This strategy is likely to work well in the context of the development of more competitive log markets. Furthermore, the uneven experiences with community tenures in British Columbia point to the importance of local management capacity in influencing the success of such decentralization (Ambus 2008).

Experiences with implementation of each of the three alternatives for tenure reform discussed above suggest that if implemented in Canada, they are likely to fail to meet some of the critical challenges Crown forest land tenure systems must address. Each of the systems however, incorporates some attractive design features that provide positive benefits. These include, increases in market discipline and increased reliance on market relations, zoning, separation of tree growing from tree processing and the establishment of competitive log markets, geographical decentralization and increases in tenure comprehensiveness. In the next section we explore a hybrid tenure system design that incorporates the above design features but is based on diversification of tenure and governance types and matches them to local conditions. We also explicitly identify the managerial approaches and policies that can be accommodated within the proposed institutional structure.

#### 4.3 Hybrid strategy<sup>3</sup>

The first step in changing our policy perspective and the design of forest tenure systems is to broaden their scope. Forest tenure systems must be emancipated from a timber-centric view, a view that focuses on physical flows of timber to fill mill needs. The practical implications are clear:

- no more locking forest resources to specific uses;
- planning must be based on values not merely physical flows; and
- the need for increased comprehensiveness of tenure rights (and obligations) to other values of the forest.

An important step that would introduce the flexibility required for forest resources to achieve their highest value to society would be to "decouple" forests from processing plants. Forest management units could also be granted more comprehensive tenure rights to avoid inefficiencies and conflicts that are generated in systems where overlapping narrow tenure rights prevent issues that arise from the use of each resource to users of other forest resources. More comprehensive rights are also needed to address the discrepancy between the narrow rights conferred by forest tenures and the broad social objectives associated with sustainable forest management (Luckert and Boxall 2009).

Forest tenure systems have to accommodate not only environmental changes but changes in the scientific knowledge, technical know-how and values. The principles of adaptive management must be cornerstones in the "new forest management paradigm". As the environment in which forest management institutions operate becomes more complex and uncertain, diversification of tenure systems can reduce risks and better match demands of varied stakeholders. Tenure systems should match the local characteristics of the managed forest and the aspirations of its direct stakeholders, while also meeting global social objectives.

In the future we see a mosaic of different tenure types across the wide spaces of the forest (one size does NOT fit all for forest tenures! See also Kant 2010a). The idea of zoning (i.e. dividing the forest into spatial units managed and regulated according to the characteristics of the forest to more effectively achieve global social goals) is an idea whose time has arrived. Indeed, we recommend the consideration of adding an ownership dimension to the zoning concept (at least with respect to the exploitation of certain forest resources for certain periods of time). Depending on the predominance of social objectives with respect to a particular forest land, a decision to increase private control can be made. Zones with few resources that are valued socially in locations without sensitive ecological systems (e.g. plantations) can have increased private control. Zones with overwhelming environmental or social values can be managed directly by governments or communities. By adding more flexibility, such a system could help accommodate the rights and aspirations of Aboriginal peoples, even before the settlement of ownership issues.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Based in part on Vertinsky, I. and M. Luckert. 2009. The Future of Forest Tenure Systems in Canada in *Tomorrow's Forests*, Sustainable Forest Management Network, Spring: 4-5.

A crisis can trigger change by unhinging the system from its equilibrium. Some zones with increased private control may be identified as plantation zones where intensive silvicultural activities (including the introduction of exotic or genetically modified, fast growing tree species) are encouraged. Such an approach could reduce the forest harvesting footprint, potentially increasing forest industry efficiency and promoting non-timber values (Anderson 2008). Having a variety of middle-sized land management companies (some may be owned by Aboriginal peoples and other local communities, others by regional forest boards or private owners) operating under a flexible, results-based regulatory system could increase the resilience of the system. Such variety would permit the market testing of alternative approaches to cope with a changing environment and survival of the best ones.

Irrespective of the type of tenure, governments have a role in ensuring that the environment is protected. While regulation is inevitable, it should be smart regulation (Gunningham and Sinclair 1999). There is a need to replace command and control regulation with newly designed economic instruments which ensure that individual management units working to advance their own objectives are provided with incentives that lead them to act in a socially desirable way. In the proposed system, governments have an important role in creating markets for a variety of currently non-tradable goods and services as well as creating markets for rights resulting from regulation aimed to ensure supply of certain public goods (e.g. cap and trade systems).

# 5.0 Getting from here to there: the challenges of implementation

Changing a governance system for the forest is a very politically intense process as it may change the benefits and costs that different stakeholders expect to derive from the forest. A significant change has distributional consequences. There are likely to be winners who will support and push for change and losers who are likely to oppose the change. There are others who will oppose changes as they are uncertain about the consequences or disagree with the claims made about the consequences of changes to the tenure system. Indeed, uncertainty about consequences or a lack of scientific knowledge may entrench the status quo even when the political economy is aligned to promote change. Organizational inertia, lack of consensus over priorities, short-term orientation, lack of leadership and political will also tend to reinforce the status quo.

Often crises trigger change by unhinging the system from its equilibrium. Strong leaders who articulate new visions during crises can empower and legitimize champions of change. For example, a severe economic crisis in New Zealand in the mid 1980s led a new labour government to adopt the radical vision of "new public management" articulated by Margaret Thatcher in the UK. This legitimized the implementation of comprehensive reforms of the management of public forest lands.



Sustainable Forest Management Network

Compensation and transition assistance serve to reduce the resistance of potential losers. As in British Columbia, the offer to compensate the incumbent tenure holders in the 2003 tenure reform proposal reduced their resistance to reallocation of tenure rights to a significant proportion of the AAC.

An important, part of a change strategy relates to the pace of change. Resistance to innovation can be reduced through incremental changes. This is likely to be an effective strategy when the consequences of changes are not well understood. Experimental introduction of reforms through pilots may provide information, increase familiarity with new concepts, and legitimize changes. However, incremental slow change reduces the momentum of reform once it starts. A "big bang" strategy has the advantage of creating momentum for change. Improved knowledge, information and managerial capacity are important both to affect change but also to ensure that introduced reforms are competently executed.

There are several other conditions for successful implementation of the proposed reform. Increased private control, without a system that provides for the availability of transparent, reliable information about forests' inventories, is not likely to result in entry of new types of land management companies and entrepreneurial renewal of the forest industry. Entry of new players may be prevented and allocation of resources may be distorted without the maintenance of competition both in input and output markets in the forest sector. Indeed, without regulations which maintain competition, diversification and decentralization may erode as market concentrations increase reducing the resilience of the system.

### 6.0 Conclusions

The challenges of sustainable forest management in a period of rapid change, discontinuities and great uncertainties, require institutional diversification, flexibility and integrative perspectives. In this paper, we have suggested that tenure systems in Canada are generally inflexible, complex, lack diversity and are highly focused on timber production and timber processing needs. Social and environmental considerations are introduced as constraints further reducing flexibility and increasing costs. The institutional structure inhibits entry of new players and, more generally, innovation.

We have suggested that a natural starting point for the required change may be the reduction of reliance on constraints and increased flexibility of tenure holders to make choices while ensuring incentive systems are in place to encourage internalization of public goods. Freeing the flow of fiber to best uses (e.g. elimination of appurtenancy requirements) and eliminating unproductive operational requirements are good initial steps in a tenure reform process. To deal with changing economic environments (e.g. increases in international competition and declines in the competitiveness of Canadian wood supply) and the anticipated significant but uncertain impacts of climate change, it is necessary to decentralize and diversify the entities which manage forest lands Resistance to innovation can be reduced through incremental changes.

A natural starting point for change may be the reduction of reliance on constraints and increased ability of tenure holders to make choices while ensuring incentive systems are in place to encourage internalization of public goods. Reforms will require investment in the development of capacity to manage the change and capacity of stakeholders to function effectively within the changed system. (e.g. by diversifying tenure types and preventing concentration of forest management entities) and to open the forest system to new players (e.g. by increasing privatization and the flexibility of trading rights, separating land management from processing and increasing tenure comprehensiveness).

While the role of government in operational decisions would be reduced, government would have an increased role in maintaining the institutional infrastructure, creating competitive markets for a broader range of forest products and services, maintaining competition, and ensuring transparency and accessibility of information required for efficient functioning of these markets. Government may also have an increased role in domains where markets fail (e.g. research and development and the provision of certain public goods).

Such bold reforms require the employment of appropriate implementation strategies. A key feature to such strategies is building a consensus among main stakeholders of the forest. Without participation of Aboriginal peoples in the design of new tenure systems and accommodation of their rights, such consensus is not likely to emerge. Implementation of change requires investment in the development of capacity to manage the change and capacity of stakeholders to function effectively within the changed system. Reforms are expensive but the alternative of "business as usual" may have a more significant cost.

## Acknowledgements

In a relatively short report it is impossible to provide a detailed account of the contents of the project and do justice to the findings of the researchers who contributed to the project. David Haley, George Hoberg, Harry Nelson, and Peter Duinker are researchers whose publications, presentations and advice were relied heavily on and who deserve much of the credit for the content of this report. Other significant contributors include Vic Adamowicz, Lisa Ambus, Jay Anderson, Chris Arnot, Luc Bouthillier, Peter Boxall, Larianna Brown, Gary Bull, Shashi Kant, Rong Lu, Anne-Helene Mathey, Darci Mitchell, Kurt Niquidet, Susan Robertson, Heidi Slaymaker, Peggy Smith, Sinclair Tedder, Marian Weber, Sarah Weber, and Peter Wood. The authors take the blame for any errors and hope that at the very least this paper will provide a coherent framework and some basic information to stimulate an informed debate about the need and the options available for reforming the tenure systems in Canada.



### References

- Alberta Wilderness Association, Albertans for a Wild Chinchaga, Canadian Parks and Wilderness Society – Edmonton Chapter, and the Federation of Alberta Naturalists. 2001. Structural Impediments to FSC Certification in Alberta: Overcoming Barriers to Well-Managed Forests. Available at http://www.borealcentre.ca/reports/imped/imped.html [Accessed January 8, 2009].
- Ambus, L. 2008. Community Tenure. Presentation to the Forest Tenure National Workshop, June 9-10, Vancouver, BC.
- Anderson, J. 2008. Economics of Priority Use Zoning. PhD Thesis. Department of Rural Economy, University of Alberta. 133 pgs.
- Arnot, C. 2007. Perceived tenure security and incentives for investment in Canadian forest tenures: A literature review and empirical analysis. MSC Thesis, Department of Rural Economy, University of Alberta, 105 pgs.
- Bell, S. 2002. Economic Governance and Institutional Dynamics. Melbourne, Australia: Oxford University Press.
- Bombay, H. 2008. Aboriginal Perspectives. Panel at the Forest Tenure National Workshop, June 9-10, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC.
- Boyd, R.G. and W.F. Hyde. 1989. Forest Sector Intervention: The Impacts of Regulation on Social Welfare. Ames: Iowa State University Press. 295 pgs.
- British Columbia Ministry of Forests [BC MoF]. 1997. Timber Tenure System in British Columbia. BC Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC. 17 pgs.
- British Columbia Ministry of Forests [BC MoF]. 2004. Market Based Forestry Reforms to Enhance Access to Timber Backgrounder. January 2004. BC Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC.
- British Columbia Ministry of Forests and Range. 2008. Forest Tenure: A discussion. April 16, 2008. BC Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC.
- Canadian Forest Innovation Council. 2004. Model of Sustainability: A Consolidated Report from the Sustainability Task Force, the Cost Cutting Task Force and the New Products and Processes Task Force. May 10, 2004.
- Canadian Forest Service [CFS]. 2007. The state of Canada's forests 2006-2007. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Ottawa, ON.
- Canadian Forest Service [CFS]. 2008. The state of Canada's forests 2007-2008. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Ottawa, ON.
- Clarke, J. 1997. Logging Costs Skyrocketing in BC. Logging and Sawmilling Journal May 1997. Vancouver, BC.
- Duinker, P. and L. Trevisan. 2003. Adaptive management: progress and prospects for Canadian Forests. *In* Towards Sustainable Management of the Boreal Forest. P. Burton, C. Messier, D. Smith and W. Adamowicz, editors. NRC Research Press, Ottawa, ON.



- Golec, P.J. and M.K. Luckert. 2008. Would harmonizing public forest policies, criteria and indicators and certification improve progress towards sustainable forest management? A case study in Alberta, Canada. The Forestry Chronicle 84(3): 410-419.
- Gunningham, N. and Sinclair, D. 1999. Designing Smart Regulation. Available at http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/18/39/33947759.pdf.
- Haley, D. 1986. The Forest Tenure System as a Constrain on Efficient Timber Management: Problems and Solutions. Canadian Public Policy 11: 325-320.
- Haley, D. 1996. Paying the Piper: The cost of the British Columbia Forest Practices Code. RPF Forum 3(5): 26-28.
- Haley, D. 2008. Interprovincial comparisons Crown forest tenures. Paper presented at the Forest Tenure National Workshop, June 9-10, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC.
- Haley, D., G. Hoberg, and M.K. Luckert. 2005. Crown forest tenure in Canada. An interim report prepared for the British Columbia Ministry of Forests. February 2005. Victoria, BC.
- Haley, D. and M.K. Luckert. 1990. Forest Tenures in Canada: A Framework for Policy Analysis. Information Report E-X-43, Forestry Canada, Ottawa, ON.
- Haley, D. and H. Nelson. 2007. Has the time come to rethink Canada's Crown forest tenure systems? The Forestry Chronicle 83(5):630-641.
- Haley, D., Nelson, H. and I. Vertinsky. 2006. Forest tenures; Design principles for a sustainable forest sector. Report prepared for the Canadian Forest Service, Ottawa, ON. March 28, 2006.
- Hoberg, G. 2008. The changing governance context. Presentation at the Forest Tenure National Workshop, June 9-10, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC.
- Howlett, M. and J. Rayner. 2001. The Business and Government Nexus: Principal Elements and Dynamics of the Canadian Forest Policy Regime. Canadian Forest Policy: Adapting to Change. ed. Howlett, M. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Kant, S. 2010a. Recent Global Trends in Forest Tenures. Forestry Chronicle 85(6): 849-858.
- Kant, S. 2010b. Sale of Canada's public forests: Economically non-viable option. Forestry Chronicle 85(6): 841-848.
- Kruger, C. 2010. Public Preferences for SFM: Case Studies in Tenure Policy and Forest Certification. MSC Thesis, Department of Rural Economy, University of Alberta, 133 pgs.
- Lindquist, E. and A. Wellstead. 2001. Making Sense of Complexity: Advance and Gaps in Comprehending the Canadian Forest Policy Process. Canadian Forest Policy: Adapting to Change. ed. Howlett, M. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.



- Luckert, M.K. 1993. Property Rights for Changing Forest Values: A Study of Mixed Wood Management in Canada. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 23(4): 688-699.
- Luckert. M.K. 1999. Are Community Forests the Key to Sustainable Forest Management?: Some Economic Considerations. Forestry Chronicle 75(5): 789-792.
- Luckert, M.K. 2010 (In Press). Canadian Forest Tenures for the Future: Towards Adaptive Sustainable Forest Management. *In* The Future of Canada's Forests and Forest Sector: Advancing the Strategic Conversation. Edited by P. Duinker, J. Fyles, G. Hoberg, and C. Frittaion. UBC Press, Vancouver, BC.
- Luckert, M.K. and J.T. Bernard. 1993. What is the Value of Standing Timber?: Difficulties in Merging Theory with Reality. Forestry Chronicle. 69(6): 680-685.
- Luckert, M.K. and P. Boxall. 2009. Institutional Vacuums in Canadian Forest Policy: Can Criteria & Indicators and Certification of Sustainable Forest Management Fill the Void? Forestry Chronicle 85(2): 277-284.
- Luckert, M.K. and D. Haley. 1990. The Implications of Various Silvicultural Funding Arrangements for Privately Managed Public Forest Land in Canada. New Forest 4: 1-12.
- Luckert, M.K. and D. Haley. 1993. Canadian Forest Tenures and the Silvicultural Investment Behavior of Rational Firms. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 23: 1060-1064.
- Luckert, M.K., D. Haley, and G. Hoberg. 2010 (under review). Canadian tenure policies for sustainable forest management.
- Luckert, M.K. and I. Vertinsky. 2007. Forest Privatization Should not be Censored from Debates about Forest Tenure Policies. Forestry Chronicle (83) 6: 790-791.
- McFarlane, B.L. and P.C. Boxall. 2000. Forest values and attitudes of the public, environmentalists, professional foresters and members of public advisory groups in Alberta. Northern Forestry Centre Information Report NOR-X-374. Edmonton, AB.
- National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy (NRTEE). 2005. Boreal Futures: Governance, Conservation and Development in Canada's Boreal. National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, Ottawa, ON.
- Nelson, H. 2008. Alternative Tenure Approaches to Achieve Sustainable Forest Management: Lessons for Canada. Sustainable Forest Management Network. Edmonton, Alberta.
- Nelson, H. and I. Vertinsky, 2005. The U.S.-Canada Softwood Lumber Dispute. North America Financial Integration. ed. A. Rugman, vol 10 Research in Global Strategic Management. Oxford: Elsevir.





- Nelson, H. and I. Vertinsky, 2005. Corporatization and Privatization in New Zealand State Forests. FEPA Working Paper. December, The Forest Economics and Policy Analysis Research Unit. The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC.
- Nelson H., W. Nikolakis, I. Vertinsky, and P. Vertinsky. 2008. Resolving a Persistent Disagreement Among Friends: A Case Study of Canada-U.S. Softwood Lumber Dispute. *In* Coping with Crisis: Conflict Management and Resolution. (eds. S. Barzilai, A. Churchman, and H. Zysblat). Jerusalem: Hebrew University Magnes Press.
- Niquidet, K., Nelson H. and I. Vertinsky 2007. Pricing the Social Contract in the British Columbian Forest Sector. The Canadian Journal of Forest Research 37: 2250-2259.
- Pearse, P.H. 1998. Economic Instruments for promoting Sustainable Forestry: Opportunities and Constraints. *In* The Wealth of Forests: Market, Regulation and Sustainable Forestry. ed. C. Tollefson. UBC Press. Vancouver, BC. Pp 19-41.
- Pearse, P.H. 2001. Ready for Change: Crisis and Opportunity in the Coast Forest Industry. A report to the Minister of Forests on British Columbia's Coastal Forest Industry. November 2001. Vancouver, BC.
- Pricewaterhouse Coopers and International WOOD Markets Research Inc. 2003. Global Lumber/Sawn Wood Cost Benchmarking Report. Available at: http://www.pwc.com/extweb/pwcpublications.nsf/docid/BA4B14B4A54C DD7D85256D83006F6586?OpenDocument.
- Rodrigues, P.M.J., Luckert, M.K., Lieffers, V. and V. Adamowicz. 1998. Economic Analysis of Ecologically Based Mixedwood Silviculture at the Stand Level. Project report to the Environmental Protection and Enhancement Fund, Alberta Environmental Protection. Edmonton, AB. 122 pgs.
- Ross and Smith. 2002. Accommodation of Aboriginal rights: the need for an Aboriginal forest tenure. Sustainable Forest Management Network, Edmonton, AB.
- Scott, A.D. and J. Johnson. 1983. Property rights: developing the characteristics of interests in natural resources. Discussion paper no. 84-26. The University of British Columbia, Department of Economics. Vancouver, BC. 52 pgs.
- Stanbury, W.T. and Vertinsky, I. 1998. Governing Instruments for Forest Policy in British Columbia: A Positive and Normative Analysis. *In* The Wealth of Forests: Market, Regulation and Sustainable Forestry. ed. Tollefson, C. UBC Press. Vancouver, BC. Pp.42-77.
- Stevenson, M.G. and P. Perreault. 2008. Capacity for What? Capacity for Whom? Aboriginal Capacity and Canada's Forest Sector. Sustainable Forest Management Network, Edmonton, Alberta.



- Tan, A.L. 2003. On the Ground. Forest certification: Green stamp of approval or rubber stamp of destruction. Report commissioned by Forest Ethics, Greenpeace and the Sierra Club of Canada. Available at: http://www.greenpeace.org/raw/content/canada/fr/documents-et liens/documents/on-theground-forest-certifi.pdf (accessed on January 8, 2009).
- Tollefson, C. 2008. Aboriginal perspectives. Panel at the Forest Tenure National Workshop, June 9-10, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC.
- United Nations World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987. Our Common Future. United Nations, New York.
- van Kooten, G.C. 1994. Cost-benefit Analysis of BC's Proposed Forest Practices Code. BC Council of Forest Industries, Vancouver, BC.
- Vertinsky, I. and M. Luckert. 2009. The Future of Forest Tenure Systems in Canada. *In* Tomorrow's Forests, Spring: 4-5. Sustainable Forest Management Network, Edmonton, AB.
- Weber, M. and V. Adamovicz. 2002. Tradable Land-Use Rights for Cumulative Environmental Effects Management. Canadian Public Policy 28.
- Williamson, T. 2005. Effects of climate change and uncertainty on timber benefits and optimal harvest decisions using risk-programming models. PhD Thesis. Department of Rural Economy, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB. 272 pgs.

#### Sustainable Forest Management Network

3-03 Civil Electrical Engineering Building University of Alberta Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2G7 CANADA Phone: (780) 492-6659 Fax: (780) 492-8160 Email: info@sfmnetwork.ca

www.sfmnetwork.ca